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DECISION


Jason Inman is subject to discipline because he was tried, found guilty by jury, and finally adjudicated of the felony of possession of child pornography, an offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of his profession and one involving moral turpitude.  
Procedure


On September 18, 2007, the Department of Health and Senior Services (“DHSS”) filed a complaint seeking to discipline Inman.  On October 8, 2008, Inman was personally served with a copy of the complaint and our notice of complaint/notice of hearing.  He did not file an answer.
Inman is in default for failing to answer DHSS’s complaint within thirty days and is deemed to have admitted paragraphs 7, 8 and 9 of the complaint.
 

On November 13, 2008, DHSS filed a motion for summary determination (“the motion”). Our Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.440(3) provides that we may decide this case without a hearing if 
DHSS establishes facts that (a) Inman does not dispute and (b) entitle DHSS to a favorable decision.  Inman did not file a response to the motion.  The following facts, as established by DHSS, are undisputed. 
Findings of Fact

1. Inman is licensed by DHSS as an Emergency Medical Technician - Paramedic.  His license was current and active at all relevant times.
2. Inman is in default.
3. On June 8, 2006, Inman was charged by federal grand jury indictment in the Eastern District of Missouri, with committing three counts of felony possession of child pornography in violation of 18 USC § 2252A(a)(5)(B).  
4. Count 1 of the indictment charged Inman with the following:

On or about March 15, 2006, within the Eastern District of Missouri, Jason D. Inman, the defendant herein, did knowingly possess material that contains an image of child pornography that was produced using materials that traveled in interstate commerce, to wit, a Compaq Presario laptop computer with serial number CND4251V66, that was produced outside Missouri and therefore has traveled in interstate commerce, and which contained child pornography, including but not limited to one of the following:
1) “PTHC Colombian girls 12yo, 14yo & man.mpg” – a video file depicting two minor females in lascivious exhibition of their genitals, performing oral sex on a male, and engaged in sexual intercourse with an adult male;
2) “Pthc Colombia Girl 12 Yo And Man Defloratione (25m42s).mpg” – a video file depicting a minor female engaged in sexual intercourse with an adult male;
3) “(Pthc) 15yo & 11yo Schwester Part 1.mpg” – a video file depicting two minor females engaged in oral sex; and
4) “MafiaSex.Ru Children Kids Hard 000013 R@ygold Mexican Girl Really Good Pthc Child Sex Porn Pedo 5.48.mpg” – a video file depicting a minor female performing oral sex on an adult male and minor female engaged in sexual intercourse with an adult male.

5. Count 2 of the indictment charged Inman with the following:

On or about March 15, 2006, in the Eastern District of Missouri, Jason D. Inman, the defendant herein, did knowingly possess material that contains an image of child pornography that was produced using materials that traveled in interstate commerce, to wit, a Sony brand DVD labeled “Stuff”, that was produced outside Missouri and therefore has traveled in interstate commerce, and which contained child pornography, including but not limited to one of [sic] the following:
1) “kiddyporn3.mpeg” – a video file depicting a minor female performing oral sex on a male;
2) “Preteen_sexo71(1).jpg” – a graphic image file depicting a minor female performing oral sex on an adult male;
3) “PedoA_Incest4.jpg” – a graphic image file depicting a minor female in a lascivious display of her genitals with a penis touching her vaginal area; and
4) “InzestPedo-awesome teen family.jpg” – a graphic image file that contains nine visual depictions of minor males and minor females engaged in oral sex and masturbation;
5) “beau.cul.JPG” – a graphic image file depicting a minor female in a lascivious display of her genitals; 
6) “Underage Dee & Desi7.mpeg” – a video file depicting a minor female in a lascivious display of her genitals and being masturbated by another minor female; 
7) “12yo Cuban girl ready-nila suck.mpg” – a video file depicting a minor female performing oral sex on an adult male; and
8) “Kiddy Porn(2).mpeg” – a video file depicting two minor females with one minor female in a lascivious display of her genitals.
6. Count 3 of the indictment charged Inman with the following:

On or about March 15, 2006, in the Eastern District of Missouri, Jason D. Inman, the defendant herein, did knowingly possess material that contains an image of child pornography that was produced using materials that traveled in interstate commerce, to wit, a Sony brand DVD labeled “Stuff backup”, that was produced outside Missouri and therefore has traveled in interstate commerce, and which contained child pornography, including but not limited to one of [sic] the following:
1) “pedo13trydad.jpg” – a graphic image file depicting an adult male engaged in sexual intercourse with a minor female[.]
7. On January 19, 2007, a jury found Inman guilty of all three counts of possession of child pornography.  On March 30, 2007, the District Court sentenced Inman to 110 months on each of the three counts to be served concurrently and upon release to be on supervised release for life (“final adjudication”).  Inman was also ordered to pay a special assessment of $300.
8. Inman is imprisoned at the Federal Correctional Institution in Texarkana, Texas and is scheduled for release on December 31, 2014.
9. The National Standard Curriculum for Paramedics (“NSCP”), required by DHSS as EMT-P training material and published by the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration of the United States Department of Transportation, provides that an EMT-P must have the ability to use good judgment, be independent, possess a good stable reasoning ability, and be cognizant of all legal, ethical, and moral obligations.

Conclusions of Law 


We have jurisdiction to hear this case.
  DHSS has the burden of proving that Inman has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.
  Our rules require the filing of an answer by Inman.
  We may on our own motion order that Inman is deemed to have admitted the facts 
pleaded in the complaint for failing to file an answer.
  We find Inman to be in default for failing to file an answer to the complaint and deem paragraphs 7, 8 and 9 of the complaint admitted.  

Inman’s deemed admissions provide undisputed facts that are supported and explained by other evidence submitted in support of the motion for summary determination.  Missouri case law instructs that in cases before us under § 621.045, we must “separately and independently” determine whether the facts – undisputed, proven by evidence at a hearing, or combined – constitute cause for discipline.
  Therefore, we independently assess whether the established facts allow discipline under the law cited.  A summary determination recognizes the responsibility of this Commission to make an independent assessment of the agency’s alleged cause for discipline.  
DHSS argues that there is cause for discipline under § 190.165.2 and 19 CSR 30-40.365.  Section 190.165.2 provides:

2.  The department may cause a complaint to be filed with the [Commission] as provided by the provisions of chapter 621, RSMo, against any holder of any certificate, permit or license required by sections 190.100 to 190.245 or any person who has failed to renew or has surrendered his or her certificate, permit or license for failure to comply with the provisions of sections 
190.100 to 190.245 or any lawful regulations promulgated by the department to implement such sections.  Those regulations shall be limited to the following:

*   *   *

(2) Being finally adjudicated and found guilty, or having entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in a criminal prosecution under the laws of any state or of the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any activity licensed or regulated pursuant to sections 190.100 to 190.245, for any offense an essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed[.]
DHSS promulgated 19 CSR 30-40.365 to implement the causes for discipline:
(2) The department may cause a complaint to be filed with the [Commission] as provided by Chapter 621, RSMo, against any holder of any certificate, permit or license required by the comprehensive emergency medical services systems act[
] or any person who has failed to renew or has surrendered his or her certificate, permit or license for failure to comply with the provisions of the comprehensive emergency medical services systems act or for any of the following reasons:
*   *   *

(B) Being finally adjudicated and found guilty, or having entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in a criminal prosecution under the laws of any state or of the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any activity licensed or regulated pursuant to the comprehensive emergency medical services systems act, for any offense an essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed[.]


Inman was finally adjudicated and found guilty of three counts of felony possession of child pornography in violation of 18 USC § 2252A(a)(5)(B):
Any person who knowingly possesses, or knowingly accesses with intent to view, any book, magazine, periodical, film, videotape, computer disk, or any other material that contains an image of child pornography that has been mailed, or shipped or transported using any means or facility of interstate or foreign commerce or in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce by any means, including by computer, or that was produced using materials that have been mailed, or shipped or transported in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce by any means, including by computer . . . shall be punished as provided in subsection (b).    

Child pornography is:
any visual depiction, including any photograph, film, video, picture, or computer or computer-generated image or picture, whether made or produced by electronic, mechanical, or other means, of sexually explicit conduct, where – 

(A) the production of such visual depiction involves the use of a minor engaging in sexually explicit conduct;

(B) such visual depiction is a digital image, a computer image, or computer-generated image that is, or is indistinguishable from, that of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct; or

(C) such visual depiction has been created, adapted, or modified to appear that an identifiable minor is engaging in sexually explicit conduct.[
] 

I.  Reasonably Related to EMT Qualifications, Functions or Duties

DHSS asserts in the motion that the criminal offense of which Inman was convicted – possession of child pornography – is reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of an emergency medical technician (“EMT”).  Many of these qualifications, functions or duties are circumscribed by the CEMS Act.  The CEMS Act requires EMTs to be trained and qualified in varied emergency functions and duties, including screening and stabilizing persons, including male and female minors, in need of emergency medical attention, first response and life support. 

To relate is to have a logical connection.
  DHSS argues that a person needing EMT services may be incapacitated and must be able to trust the EMT.    


We agree with DHSS and conclude that the offense is reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of an EMT.  The functions and duties of an EMT regulated under the CEMS Act do require the touching, feeling and handling of minors, both male and female, in extremely vulnerable situations.  These functions and duties require a high respect for the dignity and protection of others, particularly the health and soundness of people, both adult and child.  The crime of possession of child pornography necessarily involves a violation of the health and welfare of children.   Further, the qualifications demanded of an EMT under the CEMS Act, including the provisions of § 190.165, also require respect for the law and the rights 
of others, and conduct involved in the crime of possession of child pornography is related to a disrespect for both the law and the welfare of children.  

The qualifications, functions and duties of an EMT are also addressed in a DHSS regulation:

An applicant shall certify . . .
A.  That they have successfully completed one hundred and forty-four (144) hours of continuing education which meet Bureau of EMS approval criteria under 19 CSR 30-40.331, forty-eight (48) hours of which may be elective topics and the remaining ninety-six (96) hours covering all elements of the EMT-P core continuing education curriculum; [
]
The NSCP provides that an EMT-P must have the ability to use good judgment and be independent, possess a good stable reasoning ability, and be cognizant of all legal, ethical, and moral obligations.   The crime of possession of child pornography relates to all of these qualifications.  There is cause for discipline under § 190.165.2(2) and 19 CSR 30-40.365(2)(B).

II.  Criminal Offense Involving Moral Turpitude

Missouri has long held that sexual exploitation of children, such as statutory rape, statutory sodomy, and sexual misconduct involving a child are crimes.
  Inman had possession of child pornography depicting activity that would constitute crimes in this state.  Promoting and possession of child pornography are crimes in Missouri. 
  In past cases we examined the moral turpitude provision by looking at the crime itself rather than the individual’s conduct in committing the crime.
  But this Commission’s previous decisions do not have precedential 
authority,
 and in examining the crime of possession of child pornography we make our analysis as follows.


In Brehe v. Missouri Dep’t of Elementary & Secondary Education,
 a case that involved discipline of a teacher’s certificate under § 168.071 for committing a crime involving moral turpitude, the court referred to three classifications of crimes:

(1) crimes that necessarily involve moral turpitude, such as frauds [Category 1 crimes]; (2) crimes “so obviously petty that conviction carries no suggestion of moral turpitude,” such as illegal parking [Category 2 crimes]; and (3) crimes that “may be saturated with moral turpitude,” yet do not involve it necessarily, such as willful failure to pay income tax or refusal to answer questions before a congressional committee [Category 3 crimes].


The court stated that Category 3 crimes require consideration of “the related factual circumstances” of the offense to determine whether moral turpitude is involved.
  In order to determine whether a crime is a Category 1 crime, the court looked at crimes for which discipline was specifically mandated under § 168.071, which include murder, rape, child pornography and child endangerment in the first degree.  But the court determined that the crime the teacher committed, child endangerment in the second degree, was a Category 3 crime, and that the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education was required to show the particular factual circumstances surrounding the commission of that crime.  


In evaluating whether a crime involves moral turpitude, it is not necessary to review the specific factual circumstances of the crime if a Category 1 crime is involved.  Although 
§ 190.165 does not specify crimes that would mandate disqualification, we begin with a review of the crime of child pornography.  Moral turpitude is:

an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”[
]

Under Missouri’s historical standards of decency and good morals, we conclude that the crime of possession of child pornography necessarily involves an act of vileness and depravity.  Children are among the most vulnerable in our society, and adults who possess child pornography are contributing to the exploitation of the children depicted in the pornography.   Child pornography is base, vile, and depraved, and in contravention of the basic and social duties and customs owed to others and our society, irrespective of whether the depicted children live within our borders or abroad.  Child pornography also inflicts harm not only upon those children depicted in the pornography, but upon children in general.  The conduct necessarily involved in child pornography violates federal law, but it also violates Missouri’s traditional standards of common decency and good morals.  We conclude that the criminal offense of possession of child pornography is a Category 1 crime involving moral turpitude.  Because we conclude that the crime of possession of child pornography “necessarily involves moral turpitude,” we find it unnecessary to make an analysis of the underlying facts for which Inman was found guilty.
  There is cause for discipline under § 190.165.2(2) and 19 CSR 30-40.365(2)(B).

Summary


Inman is subject to discipline under § 190.165.2(2) and 19 CSR 30-40.365(2)(B) for being found guilty by jury and finally adjudicated of the felony of possession of child 
pornography, an offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions and duties of his profession and one involving moral turpitude.  


We cancel the hearing.


SO ORDERED on December 8, 2008.



________________________________



DOUGLAS M. OMMEN


Commissioner

	�Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.380(1) and (7)(A) and (C).  Although Inman has failed to answer DHSS’s allegations, in addition to these admissions DHSS filed the motion for summary determination with evidence so that we can make an independent assessment of the cause for discipline.     


	�Section 621.045.  Statutory references are to RSMo Supp. 2007 unless otherwise noted.


	�Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).  


	�Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.380(1).


	�Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.380(7).


	�Kennedy v. Missouri Real Estate Comm’n, 762 S.W.2d 454, 456-57 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988).


	�Section 190.001, RSMo 2000, titles § 190.001 to 190.245, RSMo 2000, as the Comprehensive Emergency Medical Services Systems Act (“the CEMS Act”). 


	�18 USC § 2256(8).


	�MERRIAM-WEBSTER’S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY 1050 (11th ed. 2004).


	�Regulation 19 CSR 30-40.342(3)(B)2.


	�Sections 566.032, 566.034, 566.062, 566.064, and 566.083, RSMo 2000.  


	�Section 573.025, 573.035, and 573.037, RSMo 2000.  


	�See our discussion in Missouri Dental Board v. Riddle, No. 04-1146 DB (Order, May 11, 2005).


	�Central Hardware Co. v. Director of Revenue, 887 S.W.2d 593, 596 (Mo. banc 1994).


	�213 S.W.3d 720 (Mo. App., W.D. 2007).


	�Id. at 725 (quoting Twentieth Century-Fox Film Corp. v. Lardner, 216 F.2d 844, 852 (9th Cir. 1954)).


	�Id.


	�In re Frick, 694 S.W.2d 473, 479 (Mo. banc 1985) (quoting In re Wallace, 19 S.W.2d 625 (Mo. banc 1929)).


	�We note that the underlying facts and circumstances, which include depictions of reprehensible sexual conduct with children, are saturated with moral turpitude.  
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